Case No. 81293

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF NEVADA

SFR INVESTMENTS POOL 1, LLC, A NEVADA LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY.

Appellant/Cross-Respondent,

VS.

U.S. BANK N.A., A NATIONAL BANKING ASSOCIATION, AS TRUSTEE FOR THE CERTIFICATEHOLDERS OF THE LXS 2006-4N TRUST FUND. ERRONEOUSLY PLED AS U.S. BANK, N.A., AND NATIONSTAR MORTGAGE, LLC, A FOREIGN LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY

Respondents/Cross-Appellants.

Electronically Filed Jan 21 2021 11:42 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

APPEAL

From the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County The Honorable Gloria Sturman, District Judge District Court Case No. A-14-705563-C

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

JACQUELINE A. GILBERT, ESQ.

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction under NRAP 3A(b)(1). The action began as complaint in interpleader filed by Alessi & Koenig, LLC ("Alessi") who named U.S. Bank and Nationstar, among others, as defendants. (1JA_0001.) On August 18, 2015, U.S. Bank named SFR as a third-party defendant, asserting claims for quiet title, injunctive relief, and unjust enrichment. (1JA_0044.) On March 14, 2016, SFR brought cross/counterclaims for quiet title/declaratory relief, and injunctive relief against U.S. Bank, Nationstar, Kristen Jordal, as Trustee for the JBWNO Revocable Living Trust, a Trust, Stacy Moore, and Magnolia Gotera. (1JA_0301.) SFR also brought a slander of title claim against Nationstar. On June 20, 2016, SFR voluntarily dismissed Kristen Jordal, as Trustee for the JBWNO Revocable Living Trust, a Trust. (1JA_0335.)

On June 27, 2018, Clerk's defaults were entered against Magnolia Gotera and Stacy Moore. On November 29, 2018, the district court initially granted summary judgment in favor of SFR, and denied Nationstar's motion for summary judgment and U.S. Bank's joinder thereto, finding that, *inter alia*: (1) the Bank tendered \$207.00, which was the amount of the Bank's superpriority lien; (2) the Bank's tender was rejected by Alessi, agent for Shadow Mountain Ranch Community Association (the "Association"); (3) the Bank failed to prove delivery of the purported tender or rejection of same, because the Bank merely provided a copy of

the purported check and a screenshot, neither of which was admissible, and the Bank's predecessor's witness, Doug Miles, was not disclosed, and there were defects in his affidavit; (4) if in fact a tender of the superpriority amount was made before the sale and rejected by Alessi, the rejection was in good faith, and SFR had no notice of the payment; (5) SFR was a bona fide purchaser for value ("BFP"), and Nationstar failed to protect its interest in the Property; (6) the Bank failed to set forth material issues of fact establishing fraud, unfairness, or oppression; and (7) U.S. Bank's unjust enrichment claim failed as a matter of law. The district court found the Association's non-judicial foreclosure sale extinguished the deed of trust, that Nationstar and U.S. Bank had no interest in the Property, and title was quieted in favor of SFR. (5JA_1180.)

On January 14, 2019, Nationstar filed a motion for reconsideration and/or to alter/amend judgment, asserting that the district court had made errors in its findings of facts and evidentiary rulings, and that the Nevada Supreme Court's recent ruling in *Bank of America, N.A. v. SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC*, 134 Nev.604, 427P.3d 113 (2018) ("*Diamond Spur*") required a different result. (6JA_1215.) SFR opposed the motion. On June 28, 2019, the district court granted Nationstar's motion for reconsideration, basing its decision on errors in the prior evidentiary rulings, the existence of a genuine issue of material fact as to whether payment of the superpriority portion of the Association's lien was sent to or received by Alessi, and

setting the matter for trial. (7JA_1509.) The order did not disturb the district court's previous findings that SFR was a BFP.

After a bench trial, the district court issued findings of facts and conclusions of law on April 30, 2020, rejecting SFR's argument concerning NRS 106.240, and finding that U.S. Bank's predecessor tendered and satisfied the superpriority portion of the Association's lien prior to the sale and, therefore, SFR took the Property subject to the deed of trust. (8JA_1675.) On June 3, 2020, SFR filed its notice of appeal and case appeal statement, which turned out to be premature based on issues that remained unresolved by the district court's April 30, 2020 findings of fact and conclusions of law. On July 17, 2020, the district court entered a stipulation and order which amended the April 30, 2020 findings of fact and conclusions of law to dismiss U.S. Bank's claims for unjust enrichment against SFR as moot, and certified it as final to SFR, Nationstar, and U.S. Bank. (8JA_1697.) Notice of entry of the July 17, 2020 stipulation and order was filed on August 11, 2020. (8JA_1709.) SFR timely filed its amended notice of appeal on September 8, 2020. (8JA_1742.)

ROUTING STATEMENT

Oral Argument Requested

Pursuant to NRAP 28(a)(5) and NRAP 17, this case is presumptively retained by the Nevada Supreme Court as it does not fall into the presumptions under NRAP 17(b).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1) Whether the district court erred in finding that the Deed of Trust was not terminated by operation of NRS 106.240 despite the underlying loan being declared wholly due on or before January 22, 2008, with no clear and unequivocal action to decelerate the loan within the next 10 years, based on its determination that:
 - a) U.S. Bank's quiet title/declaratory relief lawsuit tolled the operation of NRS 106.240, and/or
 - b) NRS 106.240 does not work to protect third-parties like SFR who are not a party to the note?

INTRODUCTION

This litigation was triggered by a homeowners' association sale in January 2014 at which SFR was the highest bidder. But the problems really began back in September 2007, when the Borrower under the loan secured by a Deed of Trust ("DOT") stopped making payments to the Bank. Around that same time, the Borrower stopped paying the Association dues and began letting the Property fall into disrepair.

Between September 1, 2007 and January 22, 2008, the Bank declared all sums

¹ "Bank" refers to the beneficiaries of the DOT and its loan servicers, including U.S. Bank, N.A., as trustee for the Certificateholders of the LXS 2006-4N Trust Fund ("U.S. Bank") and Nationstar Mortgage, LLC ("Nationstar"), and Bank of America, N.A.

secured by the DOT immediately due and payable. This acceleration was a remedy contemplated by the terms of the DOT. Then, on January 22, 2008, the Bank's agent executed and recorded a notice of default and election to sell ("NOD") against the Property. At no point in the next ten (10) years did the Bank take any clear and unequivocal action to decelerate/reinstate the loan underlying the DOT.

In *Pro-Max*, the Nevada Supreme Court noted that the statute of repose found under NRS 106.240 "creates a conclusive presumption that a lien on real property is extinguished ten years after the debt becomes due," and ruled that "the conclusive presumption contained in NRS 106.240 clearly and unambiguously applies without limitation to all debts secured by deeds of trust on real property."²

Here, the district court here twisted *Pro Max* to mean that not only is there no BFP requirement in NRS 106.240, but also that no BFP could ever have standing to raise NRS 106.240. This reads a "party to the note" requirement into the statute that simply does not exist and changes "without limitation" to "with limitations." Further, the district court found "that filing the quiet title action has stayed the preclusive effect of 106.240." NRS 106.240 is a statute of repose that does not allow for equitable tolling. Again, the district court's interpretation changes "applies without limitation" to "does not apply if the beneficiary is in court for some other

² Pro-Max Corp. v. Feenstra, 117 Nev. 90, 94, 97, 16 P.3d 1074, 1076, 1079 (2001).

unrelated reason."

Nothing in the plain language of the statute supports either of the district court's erroneous interpretations. Because the plain language of NRS 106.240 controls, the DOT was terminated and discharged at the latest on January 22, 2018. The district court correctly considered SFR's affirmative defense of NRS 106.240 on the merits, but erred in its interpretation of the statute.

FACTUAL BACKGROUND

I. THE TERMS OF THE DOT GIVES THE LENDER OPTIONS AS REMEDIES FOR DEFAULT, INCLUDING THE RIGHT TO ACCELERATE

Magnolia Gotera ("Borrower") obtained ownership of the real property known as 5327 Marsh Butte Street, Las Vegas, Nevada 89148 (the "Property") through a deed from Wei Hong Yang recorded on November 21, 2005 (1JA_0026-JA_0027.) That same day, a deed of trust ("DOT") executed by Magnolia Gotera ("Borrower") lists Countrywide Home Loans, Inc. as the Lender, Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems Inc. ("MERS") as the nominee beneficiary, and CTC Real Estate Services as the trustee. (8JA_1771-1797.) The DOT states that it secured a promissory note ("Note") in which the Borrower has promised to make periodic payments to pay the \$508,250 debt in full no later than December 1, 2035. (8JA_1773.) On November 2, 2011, the DOT was assigned from MERS to U.S. Bank, National Association, as Trustee for the Certificateholders of the LXS 2006-4N Trust Fund. (9JA_2033-2034.) On October 1, 2013, a document purporting to

assign the DOT from Bank of America, N.A. to Nationstar Mortgage, LLC was recorded against the Property. (9JA_2065.)

A. Borrower's Breach/Default under the Terms of the DOT

According to the terms of the DOT, the Borrower could breach the DOT in a number of ways, including, but not limited to: failing to pay installment amounts for principal and interest (¶1), failing to fund an escrow account if required by the Lender (¶3), failing to pay Association dues, taxes, or fines (¶4), failing to maintain hazard insurance (¶5), allowing the Property to be damaged or to deteriorate (¶7), giving false or inaccurate information during the lending process (¶ 8), failing to maintain mortgage insurance if required by the Lender (¶10), selling the Property to someone else without Lender's approval (¶18), or using or storing Hazardous Substances on the Property (¶21).

B. <u>Lender's Options/Remedies under the Terms of the DOT</u>

When there is a breach, the terms of the DOT gives a Lender options for remedies. As set forth in Paragraph 22, a Lender may accelerate the loan for any breach of any covenant or agreement in the DOT, so long as the Borrower is given proper notice and at least 30 days to cure the default:

22. Acceleration; Remedies. Lender shall give notice to Borrower prior to acceleration following Borrowers breach of any covenant or agreement in this security instrument (but not prior to acceleration under Section 18 unless Applicable Law provides otherwise). The notice shall specify: (a) the default; (b) the action required to cure the default; (c) a date, not less than 30 days from the date the notice is given to Borrower, by which the default must be cured; and (d) that the failure

to cure the default on or before the date specified in the notice may result in acceleration of the sums secured by this Security Instrument and sale of the Property.

(8JA_1785.)

Then, "[i]f the default is not cured on or before the date specified in the notice, Lender at its option, and without further demand, may **invoke the power of sale**, including **the right to accelerate** full payment of the Note, **and any other remedies permitted by Applicable Law**." (*Id*.) (Emphasis added.)

In addition to accelerating full payment of the Note and invoking the power of sale, the Lender may seek other remedies allowed by law. For example, Paragraph 9 allows the Lender to remedy its situation by doing and paying for whatever is reasonable and appropriate to protect itself, including paying off liens, appearing in court, paying attorney's fees, entering the Property to make repairs, etc., adding the amounts as debts secured by the DOT. At the same time, the Lender is under no obligation to make repairs or to pay off liens. The Lender has the option to act or not.

Paragraph 20 of the DOT allows the Lender to commence or join the Borrower to a judicial action after notifying the Borrower of a breach and giving a reasonable time to take corrective action. (8JA_1784.) Paragraph 20 specifically contemplates the Lender accomplishing this requirement by following the steps of notice of

acceleration and opportunity to cure in Paragraph 22. Nothing in Paragraph 20 requires the judicial action to be for judicial foreclosure. (*Id.*)

Nothing in the DOT suggests that the Lender is limited to only pursuing non-judicial foreclosure after giving a notice of intent to accelerate as described in Paragraph 22. Nor do the terms of the DOT suggest that the Lender could only choose one remedy at a time if allowed by Applicable Law.

Under the plain language of the DOT, if a Borrower allowed the Property to fall into disrepair, failed to pay the Association and failed to make payments under the loan, a Lender could choose to accelerate the loan and then begin pursuing non-judicial foreclosure by filing a NOD. If the Borrower paid the past due amounts under the DOT, the Lender could decide to rescind the NOD, but still refuse to reinstate/decelerate the loan until the Borrower paid the delinquent Association dues and/or repaired the Property. Or, in a case where the past due amounts were not paid, for any number of reasons, the Lender could choose to file a lawsuit against the Borrower instead of pursuing non-judicial foreclosure. In that circumstance, the Lender may choose to rescind the NOD, but keep the loan accelerated so it could judicially foreclose or obtain money damages.

II. THE BORROWER STOPPED PAYING THE BANK; THE BANK DECLARED ALL SUMS IMMEDIATELY DUE AND PAYABLE

The Borrower defaulted under the Note and DOT by failing to make the payments due beginning September 1, 2007. (9JA_2101.) On January 22, 2008, the

substituted trustee of the DOT, Recontrust Company, recorded a notice of default and election to sell under deed of trust ("NOD"). (*Id.*)

A. Language in First Paragraph of NOD

The first paragraph of the NOD identifies the DOT and Note. (*Id.*) The last sentence of the first paragraph sets up the second paragraph by explaining a breach of the obligations secured by the DOT has occurred, stating "[t]hat a breach of, and default, in the obligations for which such [DOT] is security has occurred in that payment has not been made of:" (*Id.*)

B. Language in Second Paragraph of NOD

The second paragraph of the NOD follows the colon at the end of the last sentence of the first paragraph. A colon is typically used as a signal that what comes next summarizes, sharpens or explains the previous sentence. And that is precisely what the NOD's second paragraph does—it summarizes, sharpens and explains the breach and the obligations secured by the DOT.

In all-caps, the second paragraph identifies the default date, the fact that the defaulted and subsequent payments include obligations for installments of principal, interest, impounds, late charges, advances made and costs incurred by the beneficiary (including foreclosure fees and costs, and/or attorney's fees). It then describes the time-frame set forth in the DOT for installments of principal by stating the maturity date of 12/01/2035. This itemized list of obligations captures all of the

expenses to which the beneficiary of the DOT is entitled to have secured by the Property—not just past due installments of principal, but also "all subsequent installments of principal," meaning the entire accelerated principal amount.

C. Language in Third Paragraph of NOD

The third paragraph is where the trustee explains the steps the beneficiary has already taken towards enforcing the DOT before the NOD was prepared, executed or recorded. **First**, it explains that the beneficiary has "executed and delivered" to the trustee a "Written Declaration of Default and Demand for Sale." **Second**, the third paragraph states the beneficiary "has deposited" with the trustee the DOT and all documents evidencing the obligations secured by the DOT. **Third**, at some point before the NOD was prepared, executed or recorded, the beneficiary <u>declared</u> (and does hereby declare) all sums secured by the DOT immediately due and payable. **Fourth**, the beneficiary previously elected to sell the Property and does hereby elect to sell the Property. (*Id.*)

The indication in paragraph three that all sums had previously been declared immediately due and payable is consistent with the requirements of Paragraph 22 of the DOT, which require notice that the loan could be accelerated if the default was not cured within a 30-day time period. It is also consistent with the portion of Paragraph 22 of the DOT that specifies that, after expenses of sale, the proceeds of

any sale under the DOT shall be applied "(b) to all sums secured by this Security Instrument." (8JA_1785.)

D. Language in Rescission of NOD

On March 20, 2008, the trustee of the DOT recorded a rescission of the NOD against the Property ("Rescission"). Notably, the Rescission takes great pains to say how the Rescission shall not be construed and clearly states that "it is and shall be deemed only an election" not to sell the Property, not any rescission of the declaration of all sums immediately due and payable.

E. NOD Language vs. Rescission Language

Comparing what the NOD states happened before it was recorded with the language stating what the Rescission was designed to accomplish shows that the loan underlying the DOT was declared wholly due before the NOD was recorded and that the Rescission did not operate to reinstate or decelerate the payments on the loan:

	"[T]he present beneficiary under such [DOT] [1] <u>has</u>		
	declared and does hereby declare all sums secured thereby		
NOD	immediately due and payable and [2] has elected and does hereby		
	elect to cause the trust property to be sold to satisfy the obligations		
	secured thereby." (9JA_2101-2102.)(emphasis added.)		
	"does hereby rescind, cancel and withdraw the [NOD] hereinafter		
	described, provided however, that this rescission [1] shall not be		
	construed as waiving, curing, extending to, or affecting any default,		
	either past, present or future, under such [DOT], or as impairing		
	any right or remedy thereunder, and [2] it is and shall be deemed to		
Rescission	be, only an election without prejudice not to cause a sale to be made		
	pursuant to such [NOD] and it [3] shall not in any way alter or		
	change any of the rights remedies or privileges securedunder		
	such [DOT], nor modify, nor alter in any respect any of the terms,		
	covenants, conditions or obligations therein contained."		
	(9JA_2104.)(emphasis added.)		

The Rescission specifically insisted that it *shall not* be construed as the default being cured or waived. The Rescission reserved all rights remedies, privileges available to the Bank in the DOT. What it did not do was contain any language to

decelerate or reinstate the loan underlying the DOT. As such the Rescission operated only as an election not to cause sale.

F. No Evidence of Deceleration; Evidence of Ongoing Breach of the DOT in the Public Record

The public record does not show any evidence of deceleration or reinstatement. Instead, the public record contains evidence of multiple, continuing breaches of the terms of the DOT by the Borrower in the form of multiple notices of liens (8JA_1848, 9JA_2040-2044 and 9JA_2053), notices of delinquent assessments, Association notices of default, Association notices of sale, and an Association notice of violation lien recorded against the Property as Instrument No. 201305150001840.

III. THE BORROWER STOPPED PAYING THE ASSOCIATION AND REPUBLIC SERVICES, LET THE PROPERTY FALL INTO DISREPAIR, AND TRANSFERRED HER INTEREST IN THE PROPERTY

Sometime in 2007, the Borrower also stopped making payments to Shadow Mountain Ranch Community Association ("Association"). The Association was entitled to collect assessments pursuant to the CC&Rs that had been recorded against the Property on June 21, 2000. According to NRS 116.3116, the Association had a lien for assessments prior to all other liens, including a first DOT to the extent of nine months of periodic assessments and nuisance, abatement, and maintenance charges.

The Association's ledger shows that the Borrower had not been current since sometime before December 1, 2005, with the last sporadic payment being made on November 27, 2007. (9JA_1932.) By February 8, 2008, the Borrower was delinquent to the Association in the amount of \$294. (8JA_1809.) Around that time, the Association hired Alessi Trustee Corporation, which later became Alessi & Koenig, LLC ("Alessi") in an effort to collect the delinquent assessments. (8JA_1802-1808.) For years, the Borrower did not pay the ongoing \$23 monthly periodic assessments or late fees. (8JA_1894-1895, 9JA_2055-2056.)

Also, because letters and notices to all of the proper parties required by statute required the Association to incur hard costs like title reports and postage as well as labor, the amounts the Borrower owed to the Association steadily increased. (9JA 1938, 9JA 2095-2096.)

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