# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

SFR INVESTMENTS POOL 1, LLC, A NEVADA LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY,

Appellant,

vs.

US BANK, N.A.; AND NATIONSTAR MORTGAGE LLC,

Respondents.

Electronically Filed Mar 18 2021 10:11 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Case No. 81293

# APPEAL

from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County, Department IV District Court Case No. A-14-705563-C

# **RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF & OPENING BRIEF ON CROSS-APPEAL**

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

This court similarly explains: "Statutes of repose' bar causes of action *after* a certain period of time, regardless of whether damage or injury has been discovered. In contrast, 'statutes of limitation' foreclose suits *after* a fixed period of time following occurrence or discovery of an injury." *Allstate Ins. Co. v. Furgerson*, 107 Nev. 772, 775 n. 2, 766 P.2d 904, 906 n. 2 (1988) (emphasis added); *see also Davenport v. Comstock Hills-Reno*, 118 Nev. 389, 391-92, 46 P.3d 62, 64 (2002).

NRS 106.240 does not serve any of the functions of a statute of repose. The statute does not terminate a right to sue measured from some period after a defendant acted. It does not bar any cause of action, nor does it terminate a right to sue—it does not mention litigation in any way. NRS 106.240 does not reflect a legislative judgment that SFR should be free from all liability after a legislatively determined time period. In fact, SFR has no liability—even if SFR loses this litigation on the merits, it is not "liable" in any way. SFR's opening brief assumes the bank tries to hold it liable, but that is not correct. SFR is not "liable" if it fails to take the property free and clear of the deed of trust. "Liability" is the "state of being bound or obliged in law or justice to do, pay, or make good something; legal responsibility." Liability Definition, *Black's Law Dictionary Free Online Legal Dictionary* 2nd Ed. The bank

seeks no liability from SFR—it does not seek to bind or oblige SFR to do anything. The bank simply wants to preserve its deed of trust. SFR does not become liable to the bank if it loses its claim to clear title any more than a gamble becomes "liable" to a casino simply because it bet on the wrong horse.

NRS 106.240 differs from a statute of repose in another critical way: it expressly allows lenders to extend the statutory period. The statute applies "at the expiration of 10 years after the debt secured by the mortgage or deed of trust according to the terms thereof *or any recorded written extension thereof* becomes wholly due." NRS 106.240 (emphasis added). Statutes of repose do not allow the parties to extend the term, but NRS 106.240 does.

Contrary to a statute of repose, NRS 106.240 is an ancient mortgage statute. Its purpose is to clear an old lien from title where a lender never records a satisfaction or release of that lien. It creates a presumption of expiration of a lien. *See Pro-Max Corp. v. Feenstra*, 117 Nev. 90, 97, 16 P.3d 1074, 1079 (2001) (NRS 106.240 asserted as an affirmative claim, providing the lender with the opportunity to plead affirmative defenses against the extinguishment of the deed of trust under the statute). The district court correctly determined NRS 106.240 is an ancient mortgage statute, not a statute of repose.

#### **B.** "Wholly Due" Refers to the Recorded Loan's Maturity Date

#### 1. SFR's Improperly Reads New Words into NRS 106.240

SFR contends NRS 106.240's reference to "wholly due" includes a lender's acceleration of loan's payment obligations. AOB 27-30. While neither the Nevada legislature nor this court has defined "wholly due" as used in NRS 106.240, the only plausible reading of "wholly due" is the maturity date stated in the deed of trust, or, if recorded, a written extension of that date.<sup>4</sup> Such a reading comports with the black-letter law above, along with the text of NRS 106.240, the structure of Chapter 106, the purpose of ancient lien statutes and the legislative intent.<sup>5</sup>

NRS 106.240—a one-sentence statute enacted over 100 years ago and last amended in 1965—provides a deed of trust "appearing of record, and not otherwise satisfied and discharged of record," terminates "ten years after the debt secured by . . . the deed of trust become[s] wholly due" under "*the terms thereof* or any *recorded written extension thereof*." (emphasis added). By its plain language, the statute makes clear only two written instruments are relevant in determining when the obligation a lien secures becomes "wholly due"— (1) the "deed of trust" itself, and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Here, the deed of trust states that "Borrower owes Lender [a certain sum] plus interest[,]" and "has promised to pay this debt in regular Periodic Payments and *to pay the debt in full not later than December 1, 2035*," a date still far in the future. (1JA\_76) (definition of "Note") (emphasis added).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> As this court noted in *Pro-Max*, NRS 106.240's legislative history is sparse. 16 P.3d 1074, 1078 n.7 (Nev. 2001).

(2) "any recorded extension thereof." NRS 106.240; *Firestone v. State*, 120 Nev.
13, 16, 83 P.3d 279, 281 (2004) (explaining the court will attribute the plain meaning to a statute that is not ambiguous).

According to SFR, the bank "accelerated" the loan's due date either by private letter to the borrower or the recorded notice of default. AOB 4-5 (surmising the loan was accelerated "[b]etween September 1, 2007 and January 22, 2008," the latter date being the date the January 2008 notice of default was recorded (9JA\_2101.)). Reading NRS 106.240 as permitting unrecorded letters or the notice of default to affect the statute's application conflicts with well-established canons of statutory interpretation. "[T]he 'doctrine of expressio unius est exclusio alterius as applied to statutory interpretation creates a presumption that when a statute designates certain persons, things, or manners of operation, all omissions should be understood as exclusions." Wheeler v. City of Santa Clara, 894 F.3d 1046, 1054 (9th Cir. 2018) (citation omitted). As this court has confirmed, "[t]he maxim 'Expressio Unius Est Exclusio Alterius', the expression of one thing is the exclusion of another, has been repeatedly confirmed in this State." Galloway v. Truesdell, 83 Nev. 13, 26, 422 P.2d 237, 246 (1967). Nevada Revised Statute 106.240's explicit references to "deeds of trust" and "recorded extensions" setting the date a loan becomes "wholly due" for purposes of triggering the ten-year clock precludes other documents, such as letters to borrowers and a notice of default, from doing so.

Nor does *Pro-Max* support SFR's argument "wholly due" can mean a date other than the loan's recorded maturity date stated in the deed of trust or recorded extension thereof. AOB 22-25. A close read of *Pro-Max* confirms the bank's interpretation of NRS 106.240 that "wholly due" means expiration of the loan term stated in the deed of trust or recorded extension. In *Pro-Max*, the noteholders executed promissory notes in 1982 with a two-year repayment term, rendering the notes "wholly due" in <u>1984</u>. *Pro-Max*, 117 Nev. at 96, 16 P.3d at 1076. Some of the noteholders agreed to extend the term, but not all noteholders agreed. *Id.* at 97, 1077. After the passing of ten years, certain noteholders sued and relied on NRS 106.240 to argue the notes were unenforceable. *Id.* This court agreed, finding "the deeds of trust were conclusively presumed to have been satisfied in <u>1994</u>, which is ten years after the notes became due." *Id.* (emphasis added).

As the bank urges here, the *Pro-Max* court looked to when the notes became due *according to the terms thereof*—or, according to the deed of trust. Here, the loan is not due until maturity in 2035. (1JA\_76.) The court in *Pro-Max* also noted: "it is undisputed that no written agreements to extend the notes and deeds of trust were executed or recorded." *Pro-Max*, 117 Nev. at 94, 16 P.3d at 1077. This is consistent with the language of NRS 106.240 stating a lien "shall at the expiration of 10 years after the debt secured by the mortgage or deed of trust according to the

terms thereof *or any recorded written extension thereof* become wholly due." NRS 106.240 (emphasis added).

Finally, in *Pro-Max*, the court rejected attempts to read words into NRS 106.240 that do not appear within the text of the statute: "We conclude that the statute is clear and unambiguous. That being the case, no further interpretation is required or permissible." *Pro-Max*, 117 Nev. at 95, 16 P.3d at 1078 (rejecting a creditor's argument that NRS 106.240 should only protect bona fide purchasers).

Just as this court refused to read a bona fide purchaser limitation requirement into NRS 106.240 in *Pro-Max*, this court should likewise not read into NRS 106.240 a reduction of the ten-year period upon acceleration of the debt underlying the deed of trust where no such language appears in the statute. According to the plain language of the statute, no instrument other than the deed of trust or a written, recorded extension thereof can affect the determination of the loan obligation as "wholly due". *Firestone*, 120 Nev. at 16, 83 P.3d at 281 (explaining the court will attribute the plain meaning to an unambiguous). To permit a notice of default or any other document to reset the "wholly due" date of a debt secured by a deed of trust under NRS 106.240 amends the statute without proper legislative action.

The legislative intent of NRS 106.240 confirms the point. "When construing a statute, the legislative intent is controlling." *Szydel v. Markman*, 121 Nev. 453, 456, 117 P.3d 200, 202 (2005). The law, originally enacted in 1917, was amended

in 1965 to include more documents (deeds of trust in addition to mortgages, and recorded extensions in addition to both) as potential triggers. If the legislature intended to add a notice of default or unrecorded letters to the list it would surely have done so. "When the language of a statute is clear on its face, this court will deduce the legislative intent from the words used." *Id.* Likewise, had the legislature intended "wholly due" to mean advancement of the date through acceleration, it would have included language to that effect.

This reading is also consistent with the structure of the statute. "Where the legislative intent cannot be discerned, a statute can be interpreted according to the entire statutory scheme." *State Indus. Ins. Sys. v. Bokelman*, 113 Nev. 1116, 1123, 946 P.2d 179, 184 (1997). Nevada Revised Statute 106.240 appears in the chapter governing recorded instruments.<sup>6</sup> If an unrecorded letter changes the "wholly due" date for purposes of NRS 106.240, as SFR contends, then courts will have to look *outside* the title record to calibrate the ten-year clock. Reading NRS 106.240 broadly enough to mean these events affect the date on which the ten-year clock starts would

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The subsections surrounding NRS 106.240 set clear and explicit requirements as to when certain types of documents have effect upon recordation. Nevada Revised Statute 106.220 makes explicit an instrument subordinating or waiving the priority of a deed of trust must be recorded and sets conditions for such recording. Nevada Revised Statute 106.260 similarly sets requirements for the recording of an instrument discharging or releasing a mortgage or lien, including that such recording can be done in the margin of the record itself.

defeat the statute's purpose—it would be impossible to determine from the record alone when the timeframe would expire. It is far more sensible, and far more consistent with the text, structure, and purpose of 106.240, to read it as adopting the maturity date stated in the deed of trust or a recorded extension—the only documents the legislature mentioned—as the date the loan becomes "wholly due" for purposes of triggering the ten-year clock.

At least one treatise interprets the "wholly due" language as referring to the date of loan maturity. *See* 3 Patton & Palomar on Land Titles § 567 (3d ed.) § 567 - Mortgages, deeds of trust, and release. The interpretation makes sense because the statute addresses when the debt is presumed satisfied. *See* NRS 106.240. The only point in time that can provide the certainty to support that presumption is the stated date of maturity. After maturity, the only way to satisfy a loan is through payment in full. In contrast, a lender can decelerate an accelerated loan at any time before maturity.

The statute's purpose is not served by allowing a debt to be presumptively extinguished ten years after acceleration. To hold otherwise would eviscerate Nevada authority finding no statute of limitations exists to conduct a nonjudicial foreclosure. *Facklam v. HSBC Bank USA*, 133 Nev. 497, 499, 401 P.3d 1068, 1070 (2017) (en banc) (rehearing denied) ("lenders are not barred from foreclosing on

mortgaged property merely because the statute of limitations for contractual remedies on the note has passed.").

# 2. The Loan Never Became "Wholly Due" Because the Borrower Could Reinstate It

Even assuming NRS 106.240's "wholly due" language could mean acceleration, the loan was not accelerated because the borrower retained the right to reinstate the initial terms of her mortgage by making a timely partial payment. Under black-letter contract law, an obligation that becomes fully or wholly due cannot be satisfied or altered by partial rather than complete performance. *See generally Effect of Performance as Discharge and of Non-Performance as Breach*, Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 235 (updated Oct. 2019). For a loan to become "wholly due" as the term is commonly used, payment in full must be the borrower's only non-breaching option.

Under the January 2008 notice of default, the borrower retained the right to reinstate the loan by paying less than all amounts due. (9JA\_2101) (citing NRS 107.080's right to cure.) Under the deed of trust, the borrower retained the "right to reinstate after acceleration" by making a partial payment. (1JA\_88) (deed of trust, § 22.) The fact the borrower could bring the loan current by making a timely payment of less than the full amount of the loan means an acceleration does not render the obligation "wholly due" under a reasonable meaning of that term.

#### **3.** The Bank Did Not Exercise Its Option to Accelerate

SFR further argues the bank must have accelerated the loan as late as the recording of the January 2008 notice of default because it would not foreclose on less than all amounts due. AOB 3-4, 11, 20-21. SFR's unfair assumption is contradicted by the January 2008 notice of default.

The notice of default cannot evidence acceleration because it expressly confirms—and conveys to the borrower—the loan was not yet due until December 1, 2035. (9JA\_2101.) It states: "THE ENTIRE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT WILL BECOME DUE ON 12/01/2035 AS A RESULT OF THE MATURITY DATE OF THE OBLIGATION ON THAT DATE." (9JA\_2101) (caps in original.) SFR ignores this critical language proving the loan was not yet "wholly due" as late as January 22, 2008, the date the January 2008 notice of default was recorded. In addition, the January 2008 notice of default reveals if the default is not cured, "the property may there after be sold." (9JA\_2101.) At best, this language indicates a future intent to accelerate.

Acceleration must be "exercised in a manner so clear and unequivocal that it leaves no doubt as to the lender's intention." *Clayton v. Gardner*, 107 Nev. 468, 470, 813 P.2d 997, 999 (1991) (quoting *U.S. v. Feterl*, 849 F.2d 354, 357 (8th Cir. 1988)). Some "affirmative action by the creditor must be taken to make it known to the debtor that [the creditor] has exercised his option to accelerate." *Feterl*, 849 F.2d at

357. The language in the January 2008 notice of default does not signify a "clear and unequivocal" intent to either accelerate the loan or sell the property.

#### 4. *Glass* Does Not Contradict the Bank's Argument

SFR may argue *Glass* supports a finding the January 2008 notice of default constituted the bank's acceleration of the loan. It does not. Unlike here where the parties dispute whether the loan was accelerated, the *Glass* parties did not dispute the recorded notice of default constituted an acceleration. *Glass*, 2020 WL 3604042, at \*1. ("The parties do not dispute that the Notice of Default accelerated the loan and made the balance immediately due.") In both *Glass* and here, the issue of whether the loan was accelerated is moot because the lender in both cases recorded a rescission within NRS 106.240's ten-year time period.

#### C. The Ten-Year Period under NRS 106.240 May be Tolled

The district court correctly found the bank's August 2015 quiet title action tolled NRS 106.240's ten-year timeframe. (8JA\_1681-82, ¶ O.) SFR disagrees, arguing NRS 106.240 is not subject to equitable tolling because it is a statute of repose. AOB 23-27. As shown, NRS 106.240 is an ancient mortgage statute, not a statute of repose.

Without such tolling, an HOA purchaser like SFR could be rewarded for prolonging litigation over the validity of the deed of trust until the eve of the expiration of the ten-year period. SFR has done so here by continuing to litigate

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